
 

 

 
February 4, 2019 

 

 The Washington County Board of Commissioners met in a regular session on Monday, 

February 4, 2019 at 6:00 PM in the Commissioners’ Room, 116 Adams Street, Plymouth, NC.  

Commissioners Johnson, Phelps, Riddick, Sexton and Walker were present.  Also present were 

County Manager/County Attorney Curtis Potter, Clerk to the Board Julie J. Bennett and Finance 

Officer Missy Dixon. 

 

Chair Johnson called the meeting to order. Commissioner Sexton gave the invocation.  

Mr. Potter led the pledge of allegiance.  

 

ADDITIONS/DELETIONS: Commissioner Phelps added Item 10A – Auditor’s Contract.  Mr. 

Potter stated that item should be discussed in Closed Session under attorney-client privilege.  

Commissioner Phelps said he feels the public needs to hear about this and wants it in Open Session. 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to discuss the Auditor’s Contract in Open Session.  

Commissioner Sexton seconded, motion carried unanimously. 

 

Chair Johnson asked for a motion for a brief recess for the Commissioners to step outside 

to look at an ambulance.  Commissioner Sexton made the motion for a brief recess to step 

outside and look at an ambulance.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion carried 

unanimously.  
 

Commissioner Riddick made the motion to come back into Open Session.  

Commissioner Sexton seconded, motion carried unanimously.  

 

 CONSENT AGENDA:   

 

a) Approval of Minutes 

b) Tax Refunds & Releases and Insolvent Accounts 

c) Proclamation:  Black History Month 

d) Board Penalty Release: Spruill Farms & Womble Drug Store, Inc. 

e) Budget Guidelines for FY2019-2020 

f) Resolution in Support of Continued Funding for the North Carolina Active Routes to School 

Program  

 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  

Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion passed unanimously.   

 

 

PUBLIC FORUM:  None. 

 

 

RECOGNITION FOR EMPLOYEE OF THE YEAR:    Chair Johnson presented a 

plaque to Ms. Renee Collier for being chosen as the Employee of the Year by the Employee of 

the Quarter Committee.  Ms. Collier also received a check for $250.   

 



 

WASHINGTON COUNTY SCHOOLS UPDATE:  Ms. Yanisha Mann, Washington 

County School Superintendent gave the following update. 

  



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 



 

 
 

Commissioner Phelps told Ms. Mann that he has been asking for plans from the school 

system.  Has the Board of Education approved this plan and is this what they are sticking to?  

Ms. Mann said yes, they just need the County to provide the land and the building. 

 

Commissioner Phelps said there was a boiler for PHS in the last budget. Was that 

installed?  Ms. Mann replied that it was.   Commissioner Phelps said that it is difficult enough to 

take care of one building, how could all the others be taken care of?  Ms. Mann said they really 

just want the PreK-13 school and have the County take over the other buildings and put 

programs in them; however, the Board of Education still wants to keep the Creswell High School 

site. 



 

Commissioner Sexton asked her to elaborate on the Creswell Learning Center.  Ms. 

Mann said it will be open for surrounding counties but just the elementary part of it.  

 

Commissioner Phelps wants clarification because he is confused.  Is the BOE behind the 

new site and the Creswell International Academy site?  Ms. Mann replied yes, and the other 

buildings could be used by the County.  

  

Commissioner Phelps asked if CES going to be consolidated?  Ms. Mann replied no. 

 

Commissioner Walker wanted to know how many middle school and high school 

students moved from Creswell to PHS.  Ms. Mann said she will get the info for Commissioner 

Walker. 

 

Commissioner Phelps asked where the other kids went. Ms. Mann referred him back to 

one of her slides. 

 

Ms. Mann said schools run off ADM money—which is money given per child.   

 

Commissioner Phelps asked Chair Johnson what is the followup from here.  Chair 

Johnson said there is joint meeting coming up on February 22
nd

 with our Board, G.K. Butterfield 

and the Board of Education and we will gain more information at that time. 

 

Chair Johnson thanked Ms. Mann for her presentation. 

 

TAX COLLECTOR’S REPORT:  Ms. Sherri Wilkins, Tax Administrator, spoke to the 

Board.  Ms. Wilkins stated that in accordance with NCGS 105-369(a) the following represents 

the total of unpaid 2018 taxes that are liens on Real Property as of January 31, 2019 - 

$772,398.91.  

  

In accordance with NCGS 105-369 (b1) letters will be mailed the first week of March to 

notify the taxpayers of their delinquencies and that the delinquent taxes will be advertised in 

April.  

 

The Debt Set-off letter will be combined with the Notice of Lien Advertisement letter 

(also referred to as the 2
nd

 Notice letter) again this year.  The taxes have to be delinquent 60 days 

to send the Debt Set-off letter, so the letters will be mailed in March. After we advertise, we can 

refer the 2018 delinquent amounts for foreclosure.   

 

Our Delinquent Tax Coordinator, Darlene Harrison, has already started wage 

garnishments and bank attachments on the delinquent amounts.   

 

Taxpayers are coming in to set up monthly payments.  We are setting up payment 

agreements to have the taxes paid by June 2019.  If they default on their monthly payment we 

will enforce collections through the wage garnishment or bank attachment.   

 

Commissioner Phelps asked if Ms. Wilkins knew how much of this was solid waste 

taxes.  Ms. Wilkins said this is only taxes. Commissioner Phelps asked for a comparison of the 

last few years. 

 



 

Ms. Wilkins explained that the Tax Department has collection options by the solid waste 

fee being on the tax bill such as garnishment, bank attachment and foreclosure.  She also 

mentioned that mobile homes can’t be put in foreclosure, they are considered personal property.  

 

Commissioner Phelps asked Ms. Wilkins’ opinion on the solid waste fee being put on the 

water bill.  Ms. Wilkin’s said she has no opinion at this time since she doesn’t know what the 

Water Department has in place for collecting the fee besides cutting off the resident’s water. 

 

Chair Johnson asked Ms. Wilkins to see if she can find any other ways to recoup this 

money.  Mr. Potter said that management was asked to check into this so he has found that Gates 

County has a consolidated water/tax bill and have had issues collecting it and are looking to 

make a change to put it on their tax bill. 

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve advertising the delinquent taxes 

for 2018 in April. Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

PUBLIC HEARING:  PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION TO REVISE THE 

SOLAR ENERGY ORDINANCE:    

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to open the public hearing on the Planning 

Board’s Recommendation to Revise the Solar Energy Ordinance.   Commissioner Riddick 

seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

At the December 3, 2018 Commissioners’ meeting, Ms. Keyes presented a 

Recommendation to Revise the Solar Energy Ordinance with regard to a decommissioning bond 

to include:  25% of a project installation cost will be set as a surety bond for decommissioning 

the site. 

 

Mr. Potter discussed his memo below: 

 



 

 



 

 
 

Mr. Potter also discussed the original Solar Ordinance Resolution and Amendment to that 

Resolution and the Solar Ordinance itself along with some information on Planning and Zoning 

for Solar in North Carolina which is incorporated by reference and hereby made a part of these 

minutes. 



 

Mr. Lloyd Jones, citizen from Roper, asked if this means the County is allowing solar 

farms in Washington County.  Ms. Keyes said we already have them in Washington County. Mr. 

Jones voiced his opinion about it destroying the farmland and how farmers won’t be able to use 

it in the future.  Ms. Keyes tried to explain to Mr. Jones that this is not the purpose of this public 

hearing. 

 

Ms. Bennett read the following letter that was sent to her and asked to read it into the 

minutes:   

 

Wandra S. Whitford 

225 Cross Road 

Roper, NC 27970 

 

Dear Washington County Commissioners, 

 

This letter is in reference to the amendment to the solar ordinance on the agenda 

for February 4, 2019. I, as an owner/landlord am capable of protecting my 

interest in the construction, maintenance and future disassembling of solar farm 

equipment. I oppose any measures that make it virtually impossible for renewable 

energy companies to operate in Washington County. 

 

Sincerely, 

Wandra S. Whitford 

 

 

Ms. Bennett also read the following text that was sent to Commissioner Phelps: 

 

Good morning!!  Just wanted to comment on the Solar Farm that is proposed on hwy 32 to 99. I 

heard it was on agenda for tonight.  Not sure if I can there. It is right behind my church and why 

Eastern NC? Because we are a poor County! My father farmed and I think people think that our 

food just gets on the shelf by itself. Or we will have to import more from China, etc. The old 

saying is we live in "Gods Country". No one will be able to sell their home that is any where 

near it and that has happened near Bath. What happend to property value around it.  I'm not far 

from it either. It does not benefit a one of us in this County!!!!!  You read on the internet that it 

needs to be considered from the "Cradle to the Grave". Because when the life of it is over where 

is it disposed of especially since it is the largest one in the United States?? Just don't know why 

after defeating the OLF this could happen. Suppose a hunter shoots accidentally and hits one 

and we are a hunting community.  What happens to the chemicals that go in the soil and water?? 

Also don't understand why so secretive since our pastor said only a few letters went out to the 

community?? Anyway I will stop but wanted to voice my opinion for what its worth! Thank you 

for your time!  

Debra Avery 

98 Askew Lane 

Plymouth, NC 

 

 



 

Ms. Keyes said the County has not given out a permit for a solar farm on NC Hwy 99.  

The purpose of this hearing is for charging a bond for decommissioning a solar farm, not for 

having one. 

  

Ms. Linda Nwadike, with SunEnergy One was next to speak.  Ms. Nwadike said her 

company has a project on Mackey’s Road—the Albemarle Beach project.  They own that 

property. The warranty on the solar panels is for 35 years. She said she has seen parts being 

replaced but not decommissioned.  There is also a salvage value such as copper wire which 

would be approximately a $12M value in copper from the Albemarle Beach project. The panels 

will be able to be sold.  It was also mentioned that Currituck County lifted their ban on solar 

farms.   

 

Ms. Keyes also mentioned that Mr. Steve Collier from NC State would be glad to come 

talk to the Commissioners about solar farms/panels. 

 

Ms. Nwadike said that the company they get their panels from uses crystalline silicon 

(sand) in their panel and it is not toxic.  Cadmium panels are another type of panel, but they are 

not toxic either.  

 

Mr. Jones asked if the panels come from China.  Ms. Nwadike said yes, some do.  She 

said that a galvanized steel post can cause more harm than a solar panel.  SunEnergy One uses 

raw steel for their posts. Mr. Jones said someone is making a lot of money off of them, but not 

the landowners. 

 

Rev. Ed Massengil, Roper, was concerned with the solar farm down Hwy 99 that they 

aren’t going to tell us about health issues and hazards. Ms. Keyes interrupted Rev. Massengil to 

let him know that SunEnergy One is not the owner of that particular solar farm.  Rev. Massengil 

went on to say that there will be problems with cleanup if there is a storm. Some other counties 

have rejected solar farms or stopped them from coming into their counties. He doesn’t think 

Washington County needs them.  Rev. Massengil continued on to say that the County stopped 

the OLF because it was going to take away our farmland. Don’t allow any more solar farms in 

the county.  

 

Ms. Keyes said that Steve Collier from NC State will be in the County on February 22
nd

  

to discuss solar farms.   

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to close the public hearing on the Planning 

Board’s Recommendation to Revise the Solar Energy Ordinance.   Commissioner Riddick 

seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

No action was taken on this recommendation at this time. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING:  PLANNING BOARD RECOMMENDATION TO REVISE THE 

ZONING ORDINANCE:    

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to open the public hearing on the Planning 

Board’s Recommendation to Revise the Zoning Ordinance. Commissioner Riddick 

seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 



 

 

At the December 3, 2018 Commissioners’ meeting, Ms. Keyes presented a 

Recommendation to Revise the County Zoning Ordinance to include: 

 

If a body is to be buried in a plot which is not a registered cemetery, the funeral director 

handling the service, or the burial must notify the Planning Office of Washington County prior to 

opening the grave site.  This is to include plots for remains of cremation. Cemeteries are allowed 

by special use permit only.  

 

Mr. Lloyd Jones, Roper, asked that if he wants to buried on his farm, can that be done.  

Ms. Keyes replied yes, because one plot is not a cemetery. She went on to say that if someone 

plans to do this, they should get part of their farm designated as a cemetery and will need a 

special use permit for $50. Mr. Jones said he was against this—and there should not be a fee.  

Mr. Potter asked Ms. Keyes to explain what the fee is for.  Ms. Keyes said the fee is for 

advertising for two weeks to let the public know a new cemetery is being created.   Ms. Keyes 

also noted that this ordinance and fee has been in effect since 2004. 

 

Ms. Keyes went on to say that the Planning Board has representation from all towns and 

a Commissioner (Sexton) and this was unanimously agreed upon by them. 

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to close the public hearing on the Planning 

Board’s Recommendation to Revise the Zoning Ordinance.  Commissioner Riddick 

seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

Mr. Potter presented the following resolution. 

 



 

 



 

 
 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve the Planning Board’s 

Recommendation to Revise the Zoning Ordinance regarding cemeteries and the  

accompanying resolution.  Commissioner Sexton said he has seen cemeteries grow up after 

being put in the middle of farm land.  Maybe this will make citizens take better care of them. He 

is not a voting member of the planning board, he makes his vote here as a Commissioner.  

Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion passed unanimously.   
 

 EMS AMBULANCES:  Mr. Curtis Potter addressed the Board and went over the memo 

below and the proposals. 



 

 



 



 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 



 

 



 

 



 



 

 



 

 
Mr. Potter said he feels that Proposal #3 is appropriate.  Ms. O’Neal said she agrees with 

Mr. Potter.  Mr. Potter and Ms. O’Neal said they would like to move along with purchasing two 

new ambulances. 

 

Commissioner Phelps agreed that the USDA is not the way to go.  He also thanked Ms. 

O’Neal for having the ambulance here tonight for the Commissioners to look at.  He also 

thanked the company folks for bringing the ambulance.  

 

Commissioner Phelps said it looked like the costs of Proposal #3 within what’s allowed 

in the budget.  Ms. O’Neal said she has been working on these quotes for a few weeks now and 

is ordering only what is needed.  Chair Johnson asked how much it will cost to outfit this truck. 

Ms. O’Neal said not as much since it will be used as a transport unit. EMS will also reuse items 

on trucks that will be taken out of service.   

 

Commissioner Walker asked Ms. O’Neal how the heart monitors are doing.  Ms. O’Neal 

replied that they are working well.    

 

Commissioner Phelps asked Ms. O’Neal if this is the price “out the door”.  Ms. O’Neal 

replied that it is.   

 



 

Commissioner Phelps asked that if the Commissioners approve this tonight, would the 

County have them in 30 days.  Ms. O’Neal replied yes and went on to say that with the hospital 

being on diversion this becomes even more important to get these new units as soon as possible.  

 

Mr. Potter did point out that the quote doesn’t have the tax, title, and license fees 

included in it. 

 

Commissioner Phelps asked if the County is going to have a third truck on the back 

burner while the hospital situation is so unstable.  Mr. Potter said yes, that the County is looking 

at this and doing the remount for the 3
rd

 ambulance, and the County may even need a fourth 

truck if the hospital closes.  

 

Commissioner Phelps made a motion to approve going with Proposal #3 (buying 2 

new ambulances) and giving the County Manager the authority to proceed with the 

procurement using the Cooperative Purchasing Option.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, 

motion carried unanimously. 

 

 BOARDS & COMMITTEES:  

 

 ALBEMARLE COMMISSION BOARD 

 

Ms. Bennett mentioned to the Board that Chair Johnson is now the Chair of the 

Albemarle Commission Board.  Washington County needs an alternate to be on the Board also.  

Commissioner Phelps volunteered to be Washington County’s alternate on the Albemarle 

Commission Board, if the Washington County Board of Commissioners approves the 

appointment. 

 

Commissioner Riddick made a motion to appoint Commissioner Phelps as the 

Washington County Alternate to the Albemarle Commission Board. Commissioner Sexton 

seconded, motion carried unanimously. 
 

FINANCE OFFICER’S REPORT:  Mr. Potter went over the budget transfer and 

amendments below and the Finance Officer’s Report.  

 



 

 



 



 

 



 

 
 



 



 

 
 



 

 



 



 



 

 



 

 
 



 

 
 



 

 
 

Commissioner Phelps said he wanted to talk about BA#:2019-57.  He wanted to know 

why this is needed.  What happened and has it been fixed?  Mr. Hardison said a child was 

adopted and a form was filled out and it was put in file, but the child was disqualified b/c the 

form was in the wrong file. Over 4 years, that amount of money increased and the draft is about 

to come out of DSS for the 50% instead of 25%.  Commissioner Riddick asked if DSS audits 



 

their own records.  Mr. Hardison said every supervisor audits their records according to an action 

plan.  

 

Commissioner Phelps asked if the bottom of BA#: 2019-62 is just for the ambulance 

purchase. Ms. Dixon said yes it is for the ambulance purchase. 

 

Commissioner Phelps asked what level the departments should be at.  Ms. Dixon said all 

departments should be at approximately 58%. 

 

Ms. Dixon spoke about the following information she received regarding increases in 

retirement: 

 

The Board of Trustees of the Local Government Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) voted 

last Thursday to increase the system’s employer contribution rates starting in fiscal year 2019-

20 in order to address a significant system funding shortfall expected in future years. This 

changed the course from the incremental 0.25 percent increase previously planned under the 

Employer Contribution Rate Stabilization Policy (ECRSP).  

 

The Retirement Systems Division of the Treasurer’s Office has provided the following 

information to be shared with LGERS employers: 

 

At its meeting on January 31, 2019, the Board of Trustees amended its policy for employer 

contribution rates to LGERS. Effective July 1, 2019, the “base” employer contribution rate with 

respect to law enforcement officers (LEOs) will increase from 8.50 to 9.70 percent of reported 

compensation. With respect to all other employees, it will increase from 7.75 to 8.95 percent of 

reported compensation. 

 

Additional rates, such as rates associated with death benefits or past service liabilities, will be 

added to the base rate to determine the actual contribution percentage for each employer. As in 

past years, each employer’s total contribution rate for the upcoming fiscal year will be 

calculated by the Retirement Systems Division and communicated in a letter before the end of 

April 2019. 

 

The Board’s policy now anticipates further increases in the “base” rates effective July 1, 2020, 

and July 1, 2021, equal to 1.20 percent of reported compensation each year, as follows: 

 

Effective Date Non-LEO “Base Rate” LEO “Base Rate” 

July 1, 2019 8.95% 9.70% 

July 1, 2020 10.15% 10.90% 

July 1, 2021 11.35% 12.10% 

 

 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to approve BT#: 2019-049, BA#:2019-050 – 

058, BA#: 2019-61 – 63 as presented above.  Commissioner Riddick seconded, motion 

passed unanimously. 

 

  

 



 

 AUDITOR’S CONTRACT:  Commissioner Phelps said he wanted to bring this to the 

Commissioners’ attention tonight since Chair Johnson will not be at the March 4 Board of 

Commissioners’ meeting and he wants her to have a say in this matter.  Commissioner Phelps 

distributed copies of the minutes where the Board chose Mauldin & Jenkins as the new auditors 

(except for Commissioner Sexton who voted nay).  Commissioner Phelps also provided a copy 

of the contract and an e-mail from Mr. Potter citing an increase asked for by the auditors of 

~$31,000.  Commissioner Phelps has forwarded this information to his friend Beth Wood at the 

State Auditor’s office.  Commissioner Phelps said he will not vote in favor of paying the extra 

$31,000.  Chair Johnson thanked Commissioner Phelps for the information and said there will 

not be a vote on this item tonight.  Chair Johnson said she would like to have the auditors at the 

next Board of Commissioners meeting.  Mr. Potter said he is asking them to come to the March 

meeting along with bringing our audit.   

 

 Commissioner Phelps said since Chair Johnson will not be at the next meeting, he 

would like for management to be given direction.  Commissioner Phelps asked Mr. Potter if he 

checked with Gates County.  Mr. Potter said he did and they had an increase also but were told 

about it ahead of time. 

 

 Mr. Potter said the auditors have said they will give the County our audit before we 

agree whether or not to pay the $31,000. 

 

 Chair Johnson said she talked with State Auditor Beth Wood and she said “no”  when 

asked to help counties with audits. 

 

 Mr. Potter said the LGC has tried to work with the NCACC on this also, but they have 

had some significant turnover. 

 

 Mr. Potter said he will try to hold a Special Meeting on March 11
th

 or March 18
th

 and 

have the auditor here. 

 

 OTHER ITEMS BY CHAIRPERSON, COMMISSIONERS, COUNTY MANAGER/ 

ATTORNEY OR CLERK:   

 

 Commissioner Sexton said they had an RPO meeting a couple weeks ago and if anyone 

has any requests regarding roads, please get information to him to get it on the list.  

 

 Commissioner Phelps said the Department Head reports look great—only saw where 

one was missing—the Sheriff’s office and asked Mr. Potter to talk to him and get him to submit 

a report so that it will help the Commissioners’  when it comes time to look at their budget. 

 

 Chair Johnson said she will be at the NACo legislative conference next month (March 

2 – 5) and unable to attend the Commissioners’ meeting scheduled for March 4.  Commissioner 

Riddick (Vice-Chair) will chair the meeting.  The meeting will be in Roper with the location to 

be determined. 

 

 Mr. Potter talked about the memo he put in the package for overspending (below). 



 

 



 

 



 

 
 Commissioner Phelps made a motion to permit staff to internally authorize the 

over-expenditure of line items 10-5380-030 and/or 10-5380-406 only if, and after, the State 

of North Carolina commits in writing to provide additional revenues/funds to Washington 

County which will be used to pay for additional unallocated expenses, and only up to the 

amount of any such additional funding.  Commissioner Sexton seconded, motion passed 

unanimously.  
 



 

 Ms. Keyes asked if a decision was being made on the solar decommissioning bond 

tonight.  The Board said no, not tonight. 

 

 Mr. Potter said Ms. Adams reported to him that $2,094 was made on the latest surplus 

items.  

  

 The Budget kickoff will be on Wednesday during the Department Head meeting.  Ms. 

Dixon and Ms. Bennett will take the lead for that meeting since Mr. Potter will be at the County 

Manager’s conference in Winston-Salem Wednesday – Friday. 

 

 Chair Johnson commended Commissioners Sexton, Riddick and Walker for attending 

Ethics Training. 

 

Commissioner Sexton made a motion to go into Closed Session pursuant to NCGS 

§143-318.11 (a)(3) (attorney-client privilege).  Commissioner Walker seconded, motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

At 9:15 PM, with no further business to discuss, Commissioner Sexton  made a motion 

to adjourn the meeting.  Commissioner Phelps seconded, motion carried unanimously. 

 

 

______________________________  _____________________________ 

      Tracey A. Johnson    Julie J. Bennett, CMC, NCCCC 

           Chair                  Clerk to the Board    

 


